
Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - May 08, 2019

Page | 1

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM

Wednesday, May 08, 2019

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS
2.a. Nomination and Election of Chairperson

2.b. Nomination and Election of Vice-Chairperson

3. MINUTES

3.a. Consideration of the Minutes of the Plan Commission meeting held on April 3, 2019
Attachment

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS
4.a. Consideration of a request to change the Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan

from Two-Family/Townhouse Residential to Planned Mixed Use for the property located at
2426 Prairie Avenue
Attachment

4.b. Consideration of a Planned Unit Development Master Land Use Plan for the property located at
2426 Prairie Avenue
Attachment

4.c. Consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment from PLI, Public Lands and Institutions District to
PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the property located at 2426 Prairie Avenue
Attachment

4.d. Consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a limited vehicle service use in a C-2,
Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2034 Liberty Avenue
Attachment

5. REPORTS
5.a. Consideration of a petition to vacate the 1200 block of Fourth Street located between Middle

Street and North Street
Attachment

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/352123/04-03-2019_Plan_Commission_Minutes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353503/May_8_Staff_Report_4_a___Comprehensive_Plan__2426_Prairie_Ave.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353868/May_8_Staff_Report_4_b___PUD__2426_Prairie_Avenue.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353512/May_8_Staff_Report_4_c____ZMA__2426_Prairie_Ave.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353492/May_8_Staff_Report_4_d___CUP__2034_Liberty_Avenue.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353495/May_8_Staff_Report_5_a___Vacation_of_1200_Block_of_Fourth_Street.pdf


Beloit Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - May 08, 2019

Page | 2

5.b. Consideration of the acquisition of land for public right-of-way at the northeast corner of Sixth
Street and Middle Street
Attachment

5.c. Consideration of a Resolution approving one-lot Certified Survey Map for properties located at 3
ABC Drive and 1132 Prince Hall Drive
Attachment

6. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS

7. ADJOURNMENT

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the
needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service,
please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353496/May_8_Staff_Report_5_b___Acquisition_of_ROW.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/353497/May_8_Staff_Report_5_c___CSM__3_ABC_Drive-1132_Prince_Hall_Drive.pdf


1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Meeting Minutes 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, April 3, 2019 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
Vice Chairperson Weeden called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. Commissioners Haynes, 
Weeden, Ruster, Finnegan, Robson, and City Councilor Preuschl were present. Chairperson 
Faragher and Commissioner Johnson were absent. 
 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the March 20, 2018 Meeting 
Commissioner Robson moved to approve the minutes. Commissioner Haynes seconded the 
motion. The motion passed, voice vote. 
 

3. Reports 
a. Consideration of a request to install a sign and markers identifying the Walter R 

Knight Honorary Bridge 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation.  
   
Commissioner Weeden asked if the sign and markers would be installed in spring 2019. 
Ms. Christensen stated that they will be.  
 
City Councilor Mark Preuschl asked how big the boulder would be.  Ms. Christensen 
answered that she didn’t know but would provide those details in the staff report to 
the City Council when this item moves forward. 
 
Commissioner Haynes moved to approve the motion. Commissioner Robson seconded 
the motion. Motion passed, voice vote. 
 

b. Consideration of a Resolution approving a one-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey 
Map for the property located at 213 W B R Townline Road in the Town of Beloit 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation.  
 

3



2 | P a g e  
 

Commissioner Weeden asked if Plan Commission was reviewing the land transfer to 
the adjoining property owner referred to in the letter from Batterman’s. Ms. 
Christensen stated that Plan Commission would not be reviewing the land transfer. 
 
Commissioner Ruster moved to approve the motion. Commissioner Robson seconded 
the motion. Motion passed, voice vote. 
 

4. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 
Ms. Christensen stated that the City Council approved the rezoning for the Beloit College 
properties, PUD zoning of the properties on Fourth St, and the rezoning for Froebel Drive. 
The Lighthouse Fellowship Church came to the City Council meeting, and Ms. Christensen 
connected them with the developer of the O’Reilly’s Auto Parts to answer any questions or 
concerns they had about the proposed parking lot on Third Street. City Council also had a 
workshop and discussed the renovations to the Forum and Fourth floor of City Hall that will 
take place from July through November 2019.  
 

5. Adjournment 
Commissioner Ruster moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Robson seconded the 
motion. Motion passed, voice vote. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:10pm.  
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Amber DesRoberts.  

 

4



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  May 8, 2019 

Agenda Item:  4.a. 

File Number:  RPB-2019-05 

 

General Information 

 

Applicant:  Aaron Nilson of Aurum Contracting  
 
Owner:  Andrew Sarris (Note:  Applicant Provided Copy of Accepted Offer to Purchase) 
 
Address/Location:  2426 Prairie Avenue (former Army Reserve Facility) 
 
Current Zoning: PLI, Public Lands and Institutional   
 
Applicant’s Request/Proposal: Aaron Nilson has submitted an application to amend the Future 
Land Use Map (Map 10) of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan. Wisconsin’s Comprehensive 
Planning Law, §66.1001 of the Wisconsin Statutes, was signed into law in 1999. The 
Comprehensive Planning law requires all cities, towns, and villages that regulate land use 
through land use ordinances (e.g. zoning) to adopt a Comprehensive Plan. This plan is intended 
to guide development and redevelopment over a 20-year timeframe. The law also requires that 
land use decisions be consistent with the plan. The Beloit City Council approved the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan update in November 2018 after an extensive public participation program. 
All land use decisions made by the City of Beloit, including any actions regarding official 
mapping, local subdivision regulation, and zoning regulations, must be consistent with the plan. 
 
 

Staff Analysis 

 
Project Summary:  The applicant has proposed the following amendment to the Future Land 
Use Map (Map 10) of the City’s Comprehensive Plan:  
1. 2426 Prairie Avenue - From Two-Family/Townhouse Residential to Planned Mixed Use. 
2. The subject property is currently planned for Two-Family /Townhouse Residential use, 

which is intended to encourage groupings of attached single family residences with 
individual entries (townhouse, rowhouse, condominiums) and duplexes. The applicant has 
proposed to use the existing building for a home improvement contractor business, with 
additional tenant office space, mechanic shop, outdoor storage, and in the future, duplexes. 
This mixed use proposal is not allowed by the existing Two-Family/Townhouse Residential 
Use recommendation and current PLI zoning classification.  

3. The requested Planned Mixed Use future land use recommendation would allow multiple 

5



land uses on one property.  
4. A prior Comprehensive Plan Amendment for Mixed Use Residential was denied for a 

proposed Multi-Family Residential project.    
 
Existing Site Conditions:   
The property is located on Prairie Avenue between Murphy Woods Road and Virginia Street. 
The current zoning is PLI, Public Lands and Institutions. Currently the property is vacant but was 
most recently an Army Recruitment Center / Armory. The property is currently for sale and has 
a signed offer to purchase.  
 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:   
North of the subject property are duplexes and institutional land uses that are zoned 
commercial and R-2, Two-Family Residential. To the east and west of the subject property are 
single family land uses with R-1A, Single Family Residential zoning. To the south of this property 
is Aldrich Intermediate School that is zoned PLI, Public Land and Institutions.   
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive and Strategic Plan:   

1. The City’s compliance with the Comprehensive Planning law’s consistency requirement 
is the impetus for this request. 

2. Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #3 by creating residential and 
economic growth. 

 
Land Use Analysis:   
As shown on the attached map, this request involves a 3.56 acre institutional parcel with a 
vacant structure located adjacent to an intermediate school, single-family homes, and two-
family residential. If the applicant is approved for the comprehensive plan amendment, they 
can then apply to rezone the property to PUD, Planned Unit Development, which allows PUD 
flexibility related to site design and use. Standards of development be laid out during the 
approval process. Planning staff believes that the recent change to the Future Land Use Map to 
Two-Family /Townhouse Residential is the appropriate density and development for this 
property in the City. The plan also states PUD, Plan Unit Development zoning can be another 
avenue to achieve the goal of increasing Two-Family Residential housing options within the 
City. Staff is recommending approval because the purposed contractor office use is a 
compatible reuse of an existing building while also adding up to six units of housing in the 
future.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment to change the future land use classification from Two-Family/Townhouse 
Residential to Planned Mixed Use, for the property located at 2426 Prairie Avenue. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location and Zoning Map, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List

6



 
 

 

L
e

g
e

n
d

Z
o

n
in

g
 C

la
s

s
if

ic
a

ti
o

n

<
a

ll 
o

th
e

r 
v
a

lu
e

s
>

R
E

G
U

L
A

T
IO

N
C

L
A

S
S

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

C
-1

C
-2

C
-3

C
B

D
-1

C
B

D
-2

D
H

M
-1

M
-2

M
R

O

P
L

I

P
U

D

R
-1

A

R
-1

B

R
-2

R
-3

R
-4

P
a

rc
e

l 
P

o
ly

C
it
y
 L

im
it
s
 (

C
o

rp
 P

o
ly

)

7



 

Map 10, Future Land Use (Narrowed to Subject Property) 
 

 
 

 

8



 

9



10



May 8 Staff Report 4(a), Comprehensive Plan, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

 

 

Proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan 

11



May 8 Staff Report 4(a), Comprehensive Plan, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

12



May 8 Staff Report 4(a), Comprehensive Plan, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

 

13



May 8 Staff Report 4(a), Comprehensive Plan, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

April 24, 2019 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

Aaron Nilson has submitted an application requesting the following amendment to the Future 

Land Use Map (Map 10) of the City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan: 

 

1. 2426 Prairie Avenue – From Two-Family/Townhouse Residential to Mixed Use. 

 

The request is for the primary use of the existing building being utilized for a home improvement 

contractor business   with additional tenant office space, mechanic shop, outdoor storage, and in 

the future duplexes. Information regarding the location, zoning, and land use of these properties 

is available for public review in the Planning & Building Services Division on the third floor of 

City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

The following public meetings will be held regarding the proposed amendment: 

 

City Plan Commission:  Wednesday, May 8, 2019, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the 

matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

City Council (Public Hearing):  Monday, June 17, 2019, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as 

the matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE MEETINGS. 
We are interested in your opinion. 

 

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and 

submit them to the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins.  Staff is unable to leave the 

meeting area to make copies. 

 

For additional information, please contact Hilary Rottmann, in the Planning & Building 

Services Division at (608) 364-6708 or rottmannh@beloitwi.gov.  Comments will be accepted 

via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail.

14

mailto:rottmannh@beloitwi.gov


May 8 Staff Report 4(a), Comprehensive Plan, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Karry DeVault, Clerk 

Town of Beloit 

2871 S. Afton Rd.  

Beloit 53511  

 

Frank Management Inc. 

2501 Morse Street 

Janesville, WI 53545 

 

 

Donald Childs, Superintendent 

School District of Beloit 

1633 Keeler Avenue  

Beloit, WI 53511 

Deb Bennett, Clerk 

Town of Turtle 

6916 S. County Rd. J. 

Beloit, WI 53511  

 

 

Colin Byrnes 

Rock County Planning Director 

51 S. Main Street, Room 266 

Janesville, WI 53545 

 

 

 
Dr. Dennis McCarthy, Superintendent 

Beloit-Turner School District 

1237 Inman Parkway 

Beloit, WI 53511 

 

City Clerk 

City of South Beloit 

519 Blackhawk Blvd. Suite 2 

South Beloit, IL 61080 

 

 
Mr. Jim Brewer, District Administrator 

Clinton Community School District 

112 Milwaukee Road 

Clinton, WI 53525 

 

 

Brad Austin 

Corporate Contractors Inc. 

3800 Gateway Blvd #200 

Beloit, WI 53511 

 

Peter Herreid 

Div. of Intergovernmental Relations 

Department of Administration 

peter.herreid@wisconsin.gov 

 

 

 

Nick Dimassis 

Beloit Public Library Director 

ndimassis@beloitlibrary.org 

 

  

15

mailto:peter.herreid@wisconsin.gov
mailto:ndimassis@beloitlibrary.org


May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  May 8, 2019 

Agenda Item:  4.b. 

File Number:  PUD-2019-02 

 

General Information 

 

Applicant:  Aaron Nilson of Aurum Contracting 
 
Owner:  Andrew Sarris (Note:  Applicant Provided Copy of Accepted Offer to Purchase) 
 
Address/Location:  2426 Prairie Avenue (former Army Reserve Facility) 
 
Applicant’s Request/Proposal:  The applicant has submitted an application for review and consideration of a 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for a proposed redevelopment that includes utilizing 
the existing building for a contractor office, with additional tenant office space, mechanic shop, outdoor 
storage, and in the future duplexes along Virginia Street. The applicant is seeking approval of a PUD in order to 
combine multiple land uses on one site.  

 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Process:  A PUD is a type of special purpose zoning district and a type of 
development plan. PUD zoning districts are inextricably linked to PUD plans; no rights of development apply to 
a PUD zoning designation other than those of the approved PUD plan. PUDs are processed in three stages: 
Master Land Use Plan; Rezoning to PUD district and Final Plan. Master Land Use Plans and Zoning Map 
Amendments may be processed concurrently, provided that no rezoning to the PUD district may occur until 
approval of a PUD Master Land Use Plan. The final plan is reviewed and approved by staff.  
 
The PUD Master Land Use Plan application is reviewed with respect to such issues as density, including the 
number, type, and location of dwelling units and other uses; impacts on surrounding areas; and the 
adequacy of facilities and services. The result of this review is the establishment of the basic parameters for 
development of the PUD. The PUD Final Plan is the document upon which building permits and other 
applicable approvals are issued. The applicant must submit the detailed and technical information necessary 
to demonstrate that all applicable standards, requirements, and conditions have been met. 
 

Staff Analysis 

 
Project Summary The applicant has submitted a PUD – Master Land Use Plan for proposed redevelopment 
that includes utilizing the existing building for a contractor office, with additional tenant office space, 
mechanic shop, outdoor storage, and in the future duplexes along Virginia Street. The applicant is seeking 
approval of a PUD in order to combine multiple land uses on one site. 
 
Existing Site Conditions:  The property is located on Prairie Avenue between Murphy Woods Road and Virginia 
Street. The current zoning is PLI, Public Lands and Institutions. Currently the property is vacant but was most 
recently an Army Recruitment Center / Armory. The property is currently for sale and has a signed offer to 
purchase. In January of 2019, the City Council denied the property owner proposed project for Multi-Family 
Residential.  

16



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  North of the subject property are duplexes and institutional land uses that 
are zoned commercial and R-2, Two-Family Residential. To the East and west of the subject property are single 
family land uses with R-1A, Single Family Residential zoning. To the south of this property is Aldrich Intimidate 
School that is zoned PLI, Public Land and Institutions.   
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive and Strategic Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map 
recommends Two-Family/Townhouse Residential; the plan also states PUD zoning can be another avenue to 
achieve the goal of increasing Two-Family Residential housing options within the City. Although this request 
includes Two-Family Residential Units, staff directed the applicant to apply for a Zoning Map Amendment and 
a Comprehensive Plan Amendment because of the other purposed land uses for the site.  This request 
supports Strategic Goals #3 by creating residential and economic growth. 
 
Zoning Ordinance Requirements:    

 
Allowed Uses: The permitted uses within the PUD would include: a contractor office, limited vehicle 
service for contracting company only, Two-family Residential, and C-1, Office District, zoning uses.     
 
Density/Intensity and Dimensional Standards:  The proposed PUD at this time does not include any new 
structures; there is an existing 3,850 square foot office building with two accessory structures towards the 
read yard setback.  All current structures are in compliance with current zoning requirements. All future 
construction must maintain a minimum of 30 feet from the PUD district boundaries. All new Two-Family 
Residential Development is subject to the R-2, Two-Family Zoning, District development standards with 
access only allowed on Virginia Street, with a maximum number of three duplexes.   The PUD must 
maintain 15% of the gross land area as open space; mature trees on site must be preserved to the 
maximum extent possible or replaced on site elsewhere. 
 
Parking and Loading Requirements:  According to Section 8-103 of the Zoning Ordinance, Office and Sales 
(Personal Service-oriented) must provide at least 1 parking stall per 250 square feet, which equates to 16 
parking stalls for the proposed development. The site currently exceeds the minimum number of parking 
spaces. 

   
Other Requirements: The site is adjacent to residential zoning districts along the north and west property 
lines. The rear parking area and accessory structure will need to have a privacy fence that is at least six feet in 
height. The current fence can be modified to keep the commercial land uses separated from these residential 
land uses. The business hours may only operate be between 7 AM and 7 PM each day to prevent disruption to 
the adjacent residences. 
 
 
PUD Master Land Use Plan Review Criteria:  Applications may be approved if the following criteria are met: 
 

1. The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished through strict 
application of otherwise applicable zoning ordinance standards, based on the purpose and intent 
of this chapter.  
 
The subject property is a former military site and not suitable for most Public Land and Institutional 
uses such as schools or churches. The proposed PUD is a creative way to utilize the current site 
amenities, combine multiple land uses, and add additional housing to the city.   

 

17



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

2. The PUD Master Land Use Plan complies with the PUD district standards of Section 5-300.  
The proposed PUD will provide for efficient use of public utilities and vacant land, and will be an 
attractive addition to the existing Prairie Avenue corridor. 
 

3. The City and other service providers will be able to provide necessary public services, facilities, and 
programs to serve the development proposed, at the time the property is developed;  
As a redevelopment site, the properties are already served with the necessary utilities and facilities. 
In order to develop the duplexes, a water main will need to be constructed in the Virginia Street 
right-of-way. Any relocation/replacement costs will be borne by the applicant. 
 

4. The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and objectives contained in 
the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policy documents; and  
The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map recommends Two-Family/Townhouse Residential; the 
plan also states PUD zoning can be another avenue to achieve the goal of increasing Two-Family 
Residential housing options within the City. The purposed PUD fosters residential and economic 
growth. There is a request to modify the Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan to Planned 
Mixed Use.   
 

5. The PUD Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the development 
will promote the general welfare of the community.  
The plan will redevelop a property that has been vacant for some time into a Planned Mixed Use that 
will comply with all of the City’s current site, building, lighting, and landscaping standards.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the PUD – Master Land Use Plan for the 
property located at 2426 Prairie Avenue, subject to the following conditions: 

1. This approval authorizes said land uses: contractor office, limited vehicle service for contracting 
company only, Two-family Residential, and C-1 Office District, zoning uses. 

2. All new Two-Family Residential Development must maintain a minimum of 30 feet from the PUD 
district boundaries in addition to the R-2, Two-Family Zoning, District development standards, and 
height requirements. The maximum building coverage is the current commercial footprint plus three 
duplexes with access only allowed on Virginia Street.  

3. No additional commercial development can occur without a PUD amendment. 
4.  The PUD must maintain 15% of the gross land area as open space; mature trees on site must be 

preserved to the maximum extent possible or replaced on site elsewhere. 
5. The access road from Prairie Avenue must remain obstruction free to provide adequate turn around 

access for emergency services. No additional access points will be granted along Prairie Avenue.  
6. The rear parking area and accessory structure must be screened and barbed wire removed by August 

1, 2019.  The existing fence can be modified with privacy slats or removed to install a privacy fence.  
7. The Business hours may only operate between 7 AM and 7 PM each day to prevent disruption to the 

adjacent residences. 
8. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan 

Commission and City Council by amending this PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The Director of Planning & 
Building Services may approve minor changes administratively and allow accessory structures and uses 
that comply with and meet all of the standards and requirements of the City of Beloit Municipal Code. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Map, Master Land Use Plan, Photos, Building Design, Application, Notice, and Mailing List. 18



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 
 

L
e

g
e

n
d

Z
o

n
in

g
 C

la
s

s
if

ic
a

ti
o

n

<
a

ll 
o

th
e

r 
v
a

lu
e

s
>

R
E

G
U

L
A

T
IO

N
C

L
A

S
S

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

C
-1

C
-2

C
-3

C
B

D
-1

C
B

D
-2

D
H

M
-1

M
-2

M
R

O

P
L

I

P
U

D

R
-1

A

R
-1

B

R
-2

R
-3

R
-4

P
a

rc
e

l 
P

o
ly

C
it
y
 L

im
it
s
 (

C
o

rp
 P

o
ly

)

19



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 

 

Proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan 

20



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

21



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 

 

 

 
 

 

22



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 

 

23



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

24



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

April 24, 2019 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

Aaron Nilsen has submitted an application for review and consideration of a Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the redevelopment for the subject property: 

 

2426 Prairie Avenue. 

 

The applicant is seeking approval of a PUD in order to combine multiple land uses. The primary 

use of the existing building would be utilized for a home improvement contractor business   with 

additional tenant office space, mechanic shop, outdoor storage, and in the future duplexes along 

the south of the property. The subject parcel is zoned PLI, Public Lands and Institutions.  The 

applicant has also submitted an application for a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning 

district classification to PUD, Planned Unit Development.  A copy of the proposed plan is 

attached. 

 

The following public hearings will be held regarding these applications: 

 

City Plan Commission:  Wednesday, May 8, 2019, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the 

matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

City Council:  Monday, July 1, 2019, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be 

heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS. 

We are interested in your opinion. 
 

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and 

submit them to the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins. 

 

For additional information, please contact Hilary Rottmann in the Planning & Building 

Services Division at (608) 364-6708 or rottmannh@beloitwi.gov.  Comments will be accepted 

via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail. 

25

mailto:rottmannh@beloitwi.gov


May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

REDEEMER EVANGELICAL 

COVENANT CHURCH 

2500 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 GREG & MARISSA NEAL 

9150 S OLSON RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 ANDREA L LEISHER 

2402 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

BARBARA L FULL 

9501 S CREEK RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 WEDNESDAY J JORDAN 

2439 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 KELLY J BARTON 

1865 VIRGINIA ST 

BELOIT WI 535112671 

GEORGE J SLOUKA 

610 N WASHINGTON ST 

ELKHORN WI 53121 

 DAVID J HILMER 

2432 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF BELOIT 

1633 KEELER AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

TIMOTHY MCKEVETT 

2318 BOULDER LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 FRANK D & LEESA L MURRY 

2433 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 JAMES R CORCORAN 

1915 MURPHY WOODS DR 

BELOIT WI 53511 

ROXI J LOYD 

2455 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 BRUCE & DIANE WITKOWSKI 

2426 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112614 

 JOSE R REYNA 

1906 MURPHY WOODS RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

CARMEN D MULLINS GAMA 

2500 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 WILLIAM GREGORY 

2427 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112613 

 MARCUS W & COURTNEY A 

JUHL 

1920 MURPHY WOODS RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

KEYLA Y GARCIA-ALCANTARA 

2462 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 REBECCA L LILLEY 

2418 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 WAYNE A LUEBKE 

2441 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 535112624 

VALERIE A FULLER 

2454 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 H C LYAS 

2419 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 SUNSHINE LANE LLC 

2278 RIVERSIDE DR 

BELOIT WI 53511 

MITCHELL J GENZ 

2446 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112614 

 IGNACIO LEON 

2410 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 CHARLES E JONES 

2433 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 535112624 

26



May 8 Staff Report 4(b), PUD, 2426 Prairie Avenue 

 

RONALD & JULIE MAUTHE 

2447 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112613 

 LORRAINE D HERMANN 

2411 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112613 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KYLE C & KRISTI M KLETT 

2425 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 THE RIVER OF LIFE UMC 

2375 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

  

DANIEL KELLICUT 

2424 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 CHRISTOPHER RUFF 

2383 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

  

EARNEST E CALVIN 

2419 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

 RUSSELL HARTMAN 

2382 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

 

 

  

GERALD J KONOPA 

2418 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 535112660 

 JULIE THIEDE 

2432 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

  

CAROL A THORESON 

2413 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 JULIAN C & AMANDA L 

SMITHSON 

2436 S VALLEY PKWY APT 3207 

LEWISVILLE TX 750672038 

  

ANDREW S CARROLL 

2414 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

    

WAYNE SNOW 

2405 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 535112624 

    

27



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  May 8, 2019 

Agenda Item:  4.c. 

File Number:  ZMA-2019-05 

 

General Information 

 

Applicant:  Aaron Nilson of Aurum Contracting 
 
Owner:  Andrew Sarris (Note:  Applicant Provided Copy of Accepted Offer to Purchase) 
 
Address/Location:  2426 Prairie Avenue (former Army Reserve Facility) 
 
Applicant’s Request/Proposal:  The applicant is requesting a Zoning Map Amendment from PLI, Public Lands 
and Institutions to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the property located 2426 Prairie Avenue. 
 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Process:  A PUD is a type of special purpose zoning district and a type of 
development plan. PUD zoning districts are inextricably linked to PUD plans; no rights of development apply to 
a PUD zoning designation other than those of the approved PUD plan. PUDs are processed in three stages: 
Master Land Use Plan; Rezoning to PUD district and Final Plan. Master Land Use Plans and Zoning Map 
Amendments may be processed concurrently, provided that no rezoning to the PUD district may occur until 
approval of a PUD Master Land Use Plan. The final plan is reviewed and approved by staff. 
 
The PUD Master Land Use Plan application is reviewed with respect to such issues as density, including the 
number, type, and location of dwelling units and other uses; impacts on surrounding areas; and the adequacy 
of facilities and services. The result of this review is the establishment of the basic parameters for 
development of the PUD. The PUD Final Plan is the document upon which building permits and other 
applicable approvals are issued. The PUD Final Plan review stage is the point at which developers bring 
forward detailed plans for carrying out the type of project conceptually approved during Master Land Use Plan 
review. The applicant must submit the detailed and technical information necessary to demonstrate that all 
applicable standards, requirements, and conditions have been met. 
 

Staff Analysis 

 
Project Summary:  The applicant has submitted a PUD – Master Land Use Plan for proposed redevelopment 
that includes utilizing the existing building for a contractor office, with additional tenant office space, 
mechanic shop, outdoor storage, and in the future, duplexes along Virginia Street. The applicant is seeking 
approval of a PUD in order to combine multiple land uses on one site.  

 
Existing Site Conditions:  The property is located on Prairie Avenue between Murphy Woods Road and Virginia 
Street. The current zoning is PLI, Public Lands and Institutions. Currently the property is vacant but was most 
recently an Army Recruitment Center / Armory. The property is currently for sale and has a signed offer to 
purchase. In January of 2019, the City Council denied the property owner’s proposed project for Multi-Family 
Residential.  

 

28



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  North of the subject property are duplexes and institutional land uses that 
are zoned commercial and R-2, Two-Family Residential. To the East and west of the subject property are single 
family land uses with R-1A, Single Family Residential zoning. To the south of this property is Aldrich 
Intermediate School that is zoned PLI, Public Land and Institutions.   
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive and Strategic Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map 
recommends Two-Family/Townhouse Residential; the plan also states PUD zoning can be another avenue to 
achieve the goal of increasing Two-Family Residential housing options within the City.  Although this request 
includes Two-Family Residential Units, staff directed the applicant to apply for a Zoning Map Amendment and 
a Comprehensive Plan Amendment because of the other purposed land uses for the site.  This request 
supports Strategic Goals #3 by creating residential and economic growth. 
 
Findings of Fact:  Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a 
recommendation based on the following considerations: 
 

1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property. 
The proposed Mixed Use PUD is consistent with land uses along along Prairie Avenue. There is a mix of 
commercial, residential, and institutional land uses along this corridor. The PUD will redevelop a 
property that has sat vacant for some time.  Staff is recommending conditions of approval to address 
hours of operation, outdoor storage, and phasing of development.  

  
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.  

The proposed Mixed Use PUD is a special purpose zoning district that permits greater flexibility of land 
use and site design than conventional zoning districts.  

 
3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification.  

The subject property is not suitable for the uses that are permitted in the existing zoning classification. 
A former military site is not suitable for institutional uses such as a school or church.  
 

4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.  
This area of the city is fully developed. Reconstruction of Prairie Avenue will start this summer. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the 
zoning district classification from PLI, Public Lands and Institutions to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, 
for the property located at 2426 Prairie Avenue. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location and Zoning Map, PUD Plan, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 
 

30



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 L
e

g
e

n
d

Z
o

n
in

g
 C

la
s

s
if

ic
a

ti
o

n

<
a

ll 
o

th
e

r 
v
a

lu
e

s
>

R
E

G
U

L
A

T
IO

N
C

L
A

S
S

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

C
-1

C
-2

C
-3

C
B

D
-1

C
B

D
-2

D
H

M
-1

M
-2

M
R

O

P
L

I

P
U

D

R
-1

A

R
-1

B

R
-2

R
-3

R
-4

P
a

rc
e

l 
P

o
ly

C
it
y
 L

im
it
s
 (

C
o

rp
 P

o
ly

)

31



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

32



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 
 

33



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

Proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan 

34



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

35



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 
  

36



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

April 24, 2019 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

Aaron Nilsen has submitted an application for review and consideration of a Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the redevelopment for the subject property: 

 

2426 Prairie Avenue. 

 

The applicant is seeking approval of a PUD in order to combine multiple land uses. The primary 

use of the existing building would be utilized for a home improvement contractor business   with 

additional tenant office space, mechanic shop, outdoor storage, and in the future duplexes along 

the south of the property. The subject parcel is zoned PLI, Public Lands and Institutions.  The 

applicant has also submitted an application for a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning 

district classification to PUD, Planned Unit Development.  A copy of the proposed plan is 

attached. 

 

The following public hearings will be held regarding these applications: 

 

City Plan Commission:  Wednesday, May 8, 2019, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the 

matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

City Council:  Monday, July 1, 2019, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be 

heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS. 

We are interested in your opinion. 
 

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring ten (10) copies and 

submit them to the Recording Secretary before the meeting begins. 

 

For additional information, please contact Hilary Rottmann in the Planning & Building 

Services Division at (608) 364-6708 or rottmannh@beloitwi.gov.  Comments will be accepted 

via telephone, email, and U.S. Mail. 

37

mailto:rottmannh@beloitwi.gov


May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

REDEEMER EVANGELICAL 

COVENANT CHURCH 

2500 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 GREG & MARISSA NEAL 

9150 S OLSON RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 ANDREA L LEISHER 

2402 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

BARBARA L FULL 

9501 S CREEK RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 WEDNESDAY J JORDAN 

2439 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 KELLY J BARTON 

1865 VIRGINIA ST 

BELOIT WI 535112671 

GEORGE J SLOUKA 

610 N WASHINGTON ST 

ELKHORN WI 53121 

 DAVID J HILMER 

2432 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF BELOIT 

1633 KEELER AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

TIMOTHY MCKEVETT 

2318 BOULDER LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 FRANK D & LEESA L MURRY 

2433 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 JAMES R CORCORAN 

1915 MURPHY WOODS DR 

BELOIT WI 53511 

ROXI J LOYD 

2455 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 BRUCE & DIANE WITKOWSKI 

2426 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112614 

 JOSE R REYNA 

1906 MURPHY WOODS RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

CARMEN D MULLINS GAMA 

2500 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 WILLIAM GREGORY 

2427 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112613 

 MARCUS W & COURTNEY A 

JUHL 

1920 MURPHY WOODS RD 

BELOIT WI 53511 

KEYLA Y GARCIA-ALCANTARA 

2462 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 REBECCA L LILLEY 

2418 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 WAYNE A LUEBKE 

2441 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 535112624 

VALERIE A FULLER 

2454 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 H C LYAS 

2419 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 SUNSHINE LANE LLC 

2278 RIVERSIDE DR 

BELOIT WI 53511 

MITCHELL J GENZ 

2446 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112614 

 IGNACIO LEON 

2410 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 CHARLES E JONES 

2433 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 535112624 

38



May 8 Staff Report 4(c),  ZMA, 2426 Prairie Ave 

 

RONALD & JULIE MAUTHE 

2447 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112613 

 LORRAINE D HERMANN 

2411 IVA CT 

BELOIT WI 535112613 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KYLE C & KRISTI M KLETT 

2425 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 THE RIVER OF LIFE UMC 

2375 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

  

DANIEL KELLICUT 

2424 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 CHRISTOPHER RUFF 

2383 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

  

EARNEST E CALVIN 

2419 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

 RUSSELL HARTMAN 

2382 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

 

 

  

GERALD J KONOPA 

2418 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 535112660 

 JULIE THIEDE 

2432 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 

  

CAROL A THORESON 

2413 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 53511 

 JULIAN C & AMANDA L 

SMITHSON 

2436 S VALLEY PKWY APT 3207 

LEWISVILLE TX 750672038 

  

ANDREW S CARROLL 

2414 SUNSHINE LN 

BELOIT WI 53511 

    

WAYNE SNOW 

2405 PRAIRIE AVE 

BELOIT WI 535112624 

    

39



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: May 8, 2019

Agenda Item: 4(d)

File Number: CU-2019-01

General Information

Applicant: Jody Miller, on behalf of Dwight Miller and Waylon Daniel (DBA Daniel’s Auto Detailing & Repair)

Owner: Joel & Charlotte Vandenberg

Address/Location: 2034 Liberty Avenue

Applicant’s Request: The applicant has applied for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a limited vehicle
service use in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2034 Liberty Avenue.

Background

In December 2018, Planning staff initiated enforcement action against the owner of 2034 Liberty Avenue after
discovering an unlawful auto repair shop in the rear storage area of the building on the subject property. The
business is operated by Waylon Daniel DBA Daniel’s Auto Detailing & Repair. Mr. Daniel is a subtenant of
Dwight Miller, who operates Roc City Art Complex (salon & tattoo) in the main commercial building on the
subject property. Both Mr. Daniel and Mr. Miller are ineligible to apply for the CUP due to delinquent debts
owed to the City of Beloit. A limited vehicle service use is one in which services are provided to vehicles while
the owner waits in the car or nearby while the service is performed (e.g. quick lubes and tire shops). Both Mr.
Daniel and Mr. Miller have been notified that full-scale auto repair is prohibited on the subject property. If the
requested CUP is approved, the applicant will be required to bring the building and site into compliance with
applicable building, zoning, and fire codes. This will include reducing the scope of the work, as full auto repair
is prohibited in C-2 districts. Planning staff issued a first ($187) citation to the property owner on March 6,
2019 when this CUP application (submitted on January 7, 2019) was repeatedly stalled due to delinquencies
yet the repair shop continued to operate throughout January, February, and March 2019. The application was
transferred into Jody Miller’s name on April 12, 2019. Additional citations are being withheld during
processing of this CUP application.

Staff Analysis

Existing Conditions: The subject property is ½ acre in area and includes a 4,165 square-foot retail building and
a 3,500 square-foot storage warehouse, along with parking areas that are both gravel and asphalt. The
property was previously occupied by Custom Bookbinding, and the warehouse was used for
storage/distribution functions. The rear storage warehouse is the location of the vehicle repair shop. There is
a driveway on Liberty Avenue/State Highway 81 that serves the property, which is located within an
unimproved public right-of-way as shown on the attached map.

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning: There is an R-2, Two-Family Residential District to the west and south of
the subject property, along with single-family dwellings. There is a commercial use (zoned C-2) to the west of
the subject property along Liberty Avenue and a two-family use (zoned C-2) to the east along Liberty Avenue.

40



There is a nonconforming outdoor storage yard to the southeast of the subject property.

Vehicle Repair Definitions: There are two categories of vehicle repair in the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance:
limited vehicle service (where services are provided to vehicles while the owner waits) and vehicle repair (full-
scale auto repair). The applicant initially planned to operate a full-scale vehicle repair operation at this
location, but has been advised by Planning staff that vehicle repair is prohibited in the C-2 district. Only limited
vehicle service uses are allowed, and must be authorized by a Conditional Use Permit. The Beloit Fire
Department has inspected the interior of the subject property on numerous occasions, and has expressed
concern that full-scale repair is still occurring within the building. The Fire Department’s photos taken April 22,
2019 are attached, which show the interior conditions of the operation including engine overhaul work.

Site Improvements Needed: Planning staff has advised the applicants and the property owner that several
areas of the property must be brought up to code if the CUP is to be issued and used. There are several areas
of the site that are gravel, which is problematic given increased vehicle traffic and outdoor storage of vehicles.
All gravel areas, including both private property and the unimproved right-of-way, need to be paved with
asphalt or concrete. In addition, the existing privacy fence along the western property line is
damaged/destroyed and must be repaired or replaced in a workmanlike manner. The applicants and owner
were advised of this in January 2019, yet the fence remains in a state of disrepair. The sign along Liberty
Avenue is technically an “abandoned sign” because it advertises a business that no longer operates. Therefore,
it must be removed, professionally covered, or changed to advertise one of the existing businesses.

Building Improvements Needed: Building Inspection and Fire Department staff have advised the applicant
that several building alterations are needed in order to legally occupy the rear storage warehouse as a limited
vehicle repair shop. A new fire wall barrier must be constructed to create a fire barrier between the shop and
the retail uses in the front building. The owner has applied for a permit for this work, but as of this writing no
work has started. In addition, the Water Resources Division has advised that the floor drain may need to be
connected to the sanitary sewer, as a recent dye test revealed that the floor drain doesn’t reach any storm or
sanitary sewers and likely just enters the ground.

Outdoor Vehicle Storage: On March 25, 2019, Code Enforcement issued a Notice of Violation to remove all of
the unlicensed and/or junk vehicles from the property. The compliance deadline has passed. As of this writing,
20 vehicles remain on the property, half of which are unlicensed.

Review Agent Comments: The City Engineer has agreed with Planning staff regarding the need to pave all
gravel areas of the site, including the unimproved right-of-way. The Water Resources Director provided the
comments above regarding the need for a new floor drain connection. The Fire Department has expressed
concerns that full-scale auto repair is occurring, and that a fire wall has not been constructed. No other
comments or concerns were submitted by the review agents.

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan: The City’s Future Land Use Map (Map #10 of the Comprehensive Plan)
recommends Neighborhood Commercial uses and C-2 zoning for the subject property.

Public Notices and Comment:
The attached notice was sent to nearby property owners and published/posted publicly. Planning staff has
been contacted by one nearby property owner who requested that the privacy fence be repaired or replaced.

Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a
recommendation based on the following considerations:

a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to

41



or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;

• If the applicant is willing to reduce the scope of the operation to limited vehicle service and
to make all of the site & building improvements recommended below and to operate
subject to limited hours, noise, and outdoor storage restrictions, then the use will not be
detrimental to the public. The requirements to install a fire-rated wall and to replace the
floor drain are directly tied to public health & safety.

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the
immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted;

• The site is directly adjacent to single-family properties, which increases the potential for
land use conflicts relating to noise, odor, lights, dust, etc. If the applicant is willing to
operate in accordance with the conditions outlined below, then land use compatibility may
be achievable. The current conditions are not acceptable.

c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the
neighborhood of the subject property;

• In its current condition, the limited vehicle service use includes excessive unlicensed and
inoperable vehicles that may have a negative impact upon property values. The staff-
recommended conditions below are intended to address these and other issues.

d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development
and improvement of the surrounding property;

• The adjacent properties are already developed.
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so

dissimilar or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate
neighborhood that it will cause a depreciation in property values;

• In order to become a legitimate vehicle service operation, the site and building must be
improved and brought up to code. For example, all gravel areas must be paved to control
dust and the long-damaged fence shall be repaired or replaced to reduce unsightliness. The
abandoned sign must be covered or replaced to avoid confusion and blight. The current
conditions are not acceptable.

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to
serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use;

• In order to protect the groundwater supply, the existing floor drain must be connected to
the sanitary sewer line as requested by the Water Resources Division.

g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and

• The site has adequate parking, but all of it must be paved with asphalt or concrete.
h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.

• If the CUP is approved, Planning staff will need to monitor the site closely to ensure that all
conditions are met.

Staff Concerns: Planning staff is recommending several conditions of approval below to address all of the
outstanding violations on the property, and to ensure that the property operates as a limited vehicle service
use without negatively impacting nearby properties. However, it is noteworthy that the proposed conditions
below will require a significant investment on the part of the owner and/or applicants, which is concerning
given the issues with delinquent debts owed to the City that have delayed this application, evidence showing a
lack of correction of known violations, and a lack of clarity in terms of financial responsibility for the
improvements between the owner and applicant. If the applicant cannot agree to comply with all of the
conditions and required improvements by the recommended deadlines, then staff recommends denial of the
requested CUP. 42



STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
If the applicant can demonstrate a willingness and resources to comply with the conditions below, the
Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a limited
vehicle service use in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2034 Liberty
Avenue, based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the following conditions:

1. This Conditional Use Permit (CUP) authorizes a limited vehicle service business in the existing 3,500
square-foot storage warehouse on the subject property, subject to the conditions below. Full-scale
auto repair is prohibited. Customers must wait on site while repairs are made.

2. All gravel areas on the subject property and the adjacent unimproved right-of-way on which the
driveway is located shall be paved to the City Engineer’s standards with asphalt or concrete to control
dust by July 1, 2019.

3. The limited vehicle service business may only operate between 7 AM and 7 PM each day to prevent
disruption to the adjacent residences.

4. No vehicles, regardless of condition or registration status, may be parked outside on the subject
property after hours to prevent blight. This prohibition excludes the applicant’s personal vehicles and
vehicles belonging to customers at the Roc City Art Complex.

5. If the above conditions are not met, additional citations for the existing open zoning violation shall be
issued to the property owner of record.

6. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan
Commission and City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning &
Building Services may approve minor changes administratively.

Code Requirements:
In addition to the above permit conditions, the following provisions of existing City Ordinances shall apply:

1. As required by the Property Maintenance Code, the existing privacy fence along the western boundary
shall be repaired or replaced to prevent unsightliness by June 1, 2019.

2. As required by the Sign Ordinance, the abandoned sign along Liberty Avenue shall be professionally
covered or replaced to reflect the current businesses to avoid public confusion by July 1, 2019.

3. As required by the Building Code, a fire-rated wall shall be constructed as directed by the Building
Official and Fire Inspector to promote fire safety by July 1, 2019.

4. As required by the Wastewater Treatment Ordinance, all floor drains in the shop shall have an
approved oil interceptor installed and shall be connected to the sanitary sewer to prevent
groundwater contamination by July 1, 2019.

5. As required by the Zoning Ordinance, no junk, equipment, tires, trailers, or other unsightly items may
be stored outside at any time to prevent blight.

ATTACHMENTS: Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Application, and Public Notice.

43



44



Photos

45



46



47



48



49



May 8 Staff Report 4(d), CUP, 2034 Liberty Avenue

50



VA-2019-01, Vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth Street (USE THIS FILE - INCLUDES NEW RESOLUTIONS)

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: May 8, 2019

Agenda Item: 5(a)

File Number: VA-2019-01

General Information

Applicant: School District of Beloit

Owner: City of Beloit

Address/Location: 1200 Block of Fourth Street (from Middle Street to North Street)

Applicant’s Request: Vacation of Public Street (Right-of-Way)

Staff Analysis

Overview: The City has received a petition from the School District of Beloit to vacate the 1200 Block of
Fourth Street (from Middle Street to North Street) adjacent to Beloit Memorial High School. As required by
Wisconsin Statutes, the City Council has adopted a Resolution which sets a date for a public hearing for this
vacation request of June 3, 2019.

Background: The proposed area to be vacated has been administratively closed to traffic on trial basis since
the beginning of the 2018-2019 school year. This petition would permanently close the 1200 Block of Fourth
Street to traffic. The Petition for Vacation, proposed Plat of Vacation, and map are attached to this report.

Safety Enhancements: The proposed area to be vacated is 0.9 acres and is currently improved with roadway,
curb & gutter, terrace, sidewalks, and utilities. As has been highly publicized, this area will eventually be
redesigned into more of a plaza and pedestrian zone, but will retain an emergency access lane. The intent is to
improve student safety, and to transform the space into a more cohesive campus.

Other Comments: If approved, the vacated area will be equally divided between and attached to both
adjacent school-owned parcels, subject to easements to allow utilities and emergency access. The Review
Agents have requested a blanked utility easement for all of the existing utilities in the area to be vacated. A
separate agreement relating to emergency access is being negotiated between the City and the School
District. All required Public Notices have been distributed and published and the Lis Pendens was recorded
with the Rock County Register of Deeds on April 11, 2019.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth
Street (from Middle Street to North Street) as described in the attached Plat of Vacation, returning the entire
right-of-way to the adjacent property owner.

ATTACHMENTS: Plat of Vacation, Petition, Public Hearing Resolution, & Public Notice.

51



VA-2019-01, Vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth Street (USE THIS FILE - INCLUDES NEW RESOLUTIONS)

Plat of Vacation

52



VA-2019-01, Vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth Street (USE THIS FILE - INCLUDES NEW RESOLUTIONS)

53



VA-2019-01, Vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth Street (USE THIS FILE - INCLUDES NEW RESOLUTIONS)

54



VA-2019-01, Vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth Street (USE THIS FILE - INCLUDES NEW RESOLUTIONS)

55



VA-2019-01, Vacation of the 1200 Block of Fourth Street (USE THIS FILE - INCLUDES NEW RESOLUTIONS)

56



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: May 8, 2019

Agenda Item: 5(b)

File Number: RPB-2019-06

General Information

Applicant: City of Beloit Engineering Division

Owner: School District of Beloit

Address/Location: Northeast Corner of Sixth Street and Middle Street (addressed as 1224 Fourth Street)

Applicant’s Request: Acquisition of Property for Public Right-of-Way

Staff Analysis

Overview: The Engineering Division has proposed the acquisition of approximately 917 square feet of
property owned by the School District of Beloit for right-of-way purposes at the Northeast corner of Sixth
Street and Middle Street. The School District has agreed to donate the land to the City to allow the
construction of a right turn lane on Middle Street at Sixth Street.

Fourth Street Vacation: This request is related to the proposed vacation of the 1200 block of Fourth Street
adjacent to Beloit Memorial High School. A Traffic Impact Analysis for the proposed street closure
recommended several improvements to maintain traffic flow and safety, including a right turn lane at Middle
Street and Sixth Street. The proposed vacation of the 1200 block of Fourth Street is being reviewed on the
same schedule as this request. If this request is approved, the project will be completed this summer.

Legal Description: An exhibit showing the area to be acquired is attached to this report. The land is part of Lot
18, Block 6 of Noggle’s Addition, which is attached to a large district-owned parcel known as 1224 Fourth
Street.

Other Comments: The acquisition of additional land at the Northeast corner of Sixth Street and North Street
is currently being negotiated between the City and the School District.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the acquisition of approximately 917
square feet of property owned by the School District of Beloit for right-of-way purposes at the Northeast
corner of Sixth Street and Middle Street, which is part of the property located at 1224 Fourth Street.

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map, Turn Lane Exhibit, and Engineer’s Letter to SDB

57



Location Map

58



59



60



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Plan Commission Meeting Date: May 8, 2019

Agenda Item: 5(c)

File Number: CSM-2019-03

General Information

Applicant: R. H. Batterman & Co., Inc.

Owner: ABC Supply Company

Address/Location: 3 ABC Drive (formerly 555 Lawton Ave) and 1132 Prince Hall Drive

Applicant’s Request: The applicant has proposed a 1-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the
properties located at 3 ABC Drive and 1132 Prince Hall Drive.

Staff Analysis

Background Info: The intent of the proposed CSM is to combine these parcels as a condition of
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) approval. A CUP to allow the construction of a 4-story office
building on the subject property was approved by the City Council on April 16, 2018. Site Plans
for this office redevelopment project are still under review, and a Development Agreement for
new infrastructure is being negotiated. In addition, discussions are underway regarding possible
vacation of ABC Drive and Lawton Ave as public streets.

Proposed Land Division: Proposed Lot 1 is 5.5 acres in area and includes frontage on Lawton
Avenue and Prince Hall Drive. Lot 1 includes both the office building site and an existing
industrial building that will be demolished in the future for off-street parking. Please note that
the proposed CSM includes numerous utility easements for existing and proposed utilities. The
parcel addressed as 1132 Prince Hall Drive consists of vacated right-of-way that was used as an
off-street parking lot for the prior office building before demolition.

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan: The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land
Use Map recommends General Industrial uses for the subject properties and the entire campus.
This request supports Strategic Goal #3 by creating economic growth.

Review Agent Comments: The Assessor’s Office has requested that the final CSM include
the small sliver of Lot 5 located between proposed Lot 1 and ABC Drive to ensure that the
new lot has frontage upon ABC Drive where it is addressed. This will also ensure that the

61



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

loading docks for ABC’s proposed office building access ABC Drive through Lot 1, not
another parcel. The other Review Agents have not submitted any comments.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached 1-Lot Certified
Survey Map (CSM) for the properties located at 3 ABC Drive and 1132 Prince Hall Drive in the
City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions:

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year
of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division.

2. A Site Plan must be approved for Lot 1 prior to Planning Staff signing the Certified
Survey Map. The final CSM shall include direct frontage upon ABC Drive.

3. A Development Agreement will be required before installation of public infrastructure.

ATTACHMENTS: Site Overview, Preliminary Certified Survey Map, Application, and Resolution

62



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

63



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

64



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

65



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

66



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

67



May 8 Staff Report 5(c), CSM, 3 ABC Drive-1132 Prince Hall Drive

RESOLUTION
APPROVING A ONE-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP

FOR THE PROPERTIES LOCATED AT
3 ABC DRIVE AND 1132 PRINCE HALL DRIVE

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the
City of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan
Commission of the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor
subdivision of land within the jurisdiction of the City; and

WHEREAS, the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 3
ABC Drive and 1132 Prince Hall Drive, containing 5.510 acres, more or less, is located within
the jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached
one-lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land:

LOT 4 OF ABC INDUSTRIAL PARK SUBDIVISION, PART OF VACATED
LAWTON AVENUE, AND PART OF VACATED OUT-LOT C OF
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP DOCUMENT NO. 1250451, BEING PART OF
THE SW ¼ OF THE SW ¼ OF SECTION 25 AND PART OF THE NW ¼ OF
THE NW ¼ OF SECTION 36, T. 1 N., R. 12 E., OF THE 4TH P.M., CITY OF
BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of
Beloit does hereby conditionally approve the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the
properties located at 3 ABC Drive and 1132 Prince Hall Drive, subject to the following
conditions:

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one
year of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division.

2. A Site Plan must be approved for Lot 1 prior to Planning Staff signing the Certified
Survey Map. The final CSM shall include direct frontage upon ABC Drive.

3. A Development Agreement will be required before installation of public infrastructure.

Adopted this 8th day of May, 2019.

_
James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman

ATTEST:

Julie Christensen,
Community Development Director

68


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2018-1280 - Attachment
	2018-1285 - Attachment
	2018-1284 - Attachment
	2018-1286 - Attachment
	2018-1287 - Attachment
	2018-1281 - Attachment
	2018-1282 - Attachment
	2018-1283 - Attachment

